PROCEEDINGS
of the
Society of Antiquaries
of Scotland

Volume 127
(1997)

Royal Museum of Scotland
Chambers Street, Edinburgh
<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Page</th>
<th>Title</th>
<th>Author/s</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>xi</td>
<td>LAWS OF THE SOCIETY OF ANTIQUARIES OF SCOTLAND</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>xiii</td>
<td>OBITUARY</td>
<td>Anne S Robertson</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1</td>
<td>Palaeolithic handaxes in Scotland</td>
<td>Alan Saville</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>17</td>
<td>Excavation of pits containing decorated Neolithic pottery and early</td>
<td>Derek Alexander</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>lithic material of possible Mesolithic date at Spurryhillock,</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Stonehaven, Aberdeenshire</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>29</td>
<td>Excavation of Neolithic enclosures at Cowie Road, Bannockburn,</td>
<td>James S Rideout</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Stirling, 1984–85</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>69</td>
<td>Excavation of a Neolithic settlement and ritual complex at Beckton</td>
<td>Tony Pollard</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Farm, Lockerbie, Dumfries &amp; Galloway</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>123</td>
<td>The excavation and restoration of the Camster Long chambered cairn,</td>
<td>Lionel Masters</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Caithness, Highland, 1967–80</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>landscape in Clydesdale, South Lanarkshire</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>255</td>
<td>The excavation of Cairnwell ring-cairn, Portlethen, Aberdeenshire</td>
<td>Thomas Rees</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>281</td>
<td>The early Bronze Age cairn at Sketewan, Balnaguard, Perth &amp; Kinross</td>
<td>Roger J Mercer &amp; Magdalena S Midgley</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>339</td>
<td>The excavation of Iron Age buildings at Ironshill, Inverkeilor, Angus</td>
<td>Dave Pollock</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>359</td>
<td>The excavation of a square-ditched barrow and other cropmarks at</td>
<td>Diana Murray &amp; Ian Ralston</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Boysack Mills, Inverkeilor, Angus</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>387</td>
<td>Excavation of a cropmark enclosure at Brixwold, Dalhousie Mains,</td>
<td>A Crone &amp; J O'Sullivan</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td>Bonnyrigg, Midlothian</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td></td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
407 The excavation of two later Iron Age fortified homesteads at Aldclune, Blair Atholl, Perth & Kinross
   R Hingley, H L Moore, J E Triscott & G Wilson

467 Archaeological collections from sandhill sites in the Isle of Coll, Argyll & Bute
   John Crawford

513 Iron Age coins in Scotland
   Fraser Hunter

527 Roman and medieval coins found in Scotland, 1988–95
   J D Bateson & N M McQ Holmes

563 The Roman Gask System tower at Greenloaning, Perth & Kinross
   D J Wooliscroft & B Hoffmann

577 Excavation of Roman, medieval and later features at Carriden Roman fort annex in 1994
   Geoff B Bailey

595 Excavation on Arthur's Seat fort, Edinburgh, 1995
   Derek Alexander

601 A long-cist burial at Innerwick, near Dunbar, East Lothian
   A R Rees & W L Finlayson

609 Hermisgarth, Sanday: the investigations of pyre settings and Pictish burials in Orkney
   Jane M Downes with Christopher D Morris

627 The Columban church in northern Britain, 664–717: a re-assessment
   Kenneth Veitch

649 The Viking-Age trefoil mount from Jarlshof: a reappraisal in the light of two new discoveries
   Caroline Paterson

659 North Berwick, East Lothian: its archaeology revisited
   Derek Hall & David Bowler

677 Excavation of a medieval grain-drying kiln and earlier mill-lade at Llanbryde, Moray
   Derek Alexander

687 Excavations at Bothwell Castle, North Lanarkshire
   John Lewis

697 Excavations at Crichton Castle, Midlothian
   John Lewis
707 The development of a medieval street frontage: evidence from excavations at 80–86 High Street, Perth
  Colm Moloney & Russell Coleman

783 Excavations at Niddry Castle, West Lothian, 1986–90
  Edwina Proudfoot & Christopher Aliaga Kelly

843 Excavations at Sauchie Tower, Clackmannanshire
  John Cannell & John Lewis

855 Aspects of the architectural history of Kirkwall Cathedral
  Malcolm Thurlby

889 Mary Queen of Scots and Bothwell's bracelets
  Rosalind K Marshall

899 Excavation of a post-medieval settlement at Druim nan Dearcag, and related sites around Loch Olaphat, North Uist
  Ian Armit

921 Sir Isaac Newton and the Scottish recoinage, 1707–10
  Athol L Murray

945 Trade Incorporation ceremonial chairs
  Stephen Jackson

957 Archaeological material in Scotland from West Midlands Museums
  P Watson, P Wise & D Symons

963 LECTURE SUMMARIES

969 MEETINGS OF THE SOCIETY, 1996–7

983 NOTES FOR CONTRIBUTORS

987 INDEX
Society of Antiquaries of Scotland
Council 1996–7

President
Professor Michael Lynch, MA, PhD, FRHistS, FRSE

Vice Presidents
Naomi E A Tarrant, BA, AMA
Ian A G Shepherd MA, FSA, MIFA
John B Stevenson MA, FSA

Treasurer
Alan Saville, BA, FSA, MIFA

Councillors
Valerie E Dean
John S Dent, BA, MPhil, PhD, FSA, MIFA
Jane M S Durham (Deceased April 1997)
Michael D King, MA, AMA
Colleen Batey, BA, PhD, MIFA
Thomas O Clancy BA, PhD

Ex Officio:
Chairman of North East Section
Publications Convener
Research Convener
Finance & Administration Convener
Heritage Convener
Representative to the Ancient Monuments
Board of Scotland
Representative of the National Museums of
Scotland

Director
Fionna M Ashmore, BA, FSA

Proceedings Editor
Jerry O’Sullivan, BA, MIFA, MIAPA

Monographs Editor
Alexandra N Shepherd, MA, MIFA
Patron and Honorary Fellows of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, 1996–7

Patron

HM The Queen

Honorary Fellows

HRH The Duke of Rothesay
Emeritus Professor Leslie Alcock, OBE MA FSA FRHistS
Professor Bertil Almgren
Dr Robert Geoffrey William Anderson, BSc MA DPhil FRSC
Miss Marion Campbell of Kilberry, FSA
Ronald Gordon Cant, MA DLitt FRHistS
(Arkitekt) Hakon Christie
Dr J-B Colbert de Beauleau
Howard Colvin, CVP CBE FBA FSA
Professor Alexander Fenton, CBE MA BA DLitt FRSe FSA
Professor Pierre-Roland Giot
Miss Audrey Shore Henshall, OBE MA FSA
Arne Hoff, PhD
Dr Kristian Kristiansen
Professor S J de Laet
Dr Antonie Plămădeală
Professor Dr Hans Schönberger
Professor Axel Steensberg
Dr William E Taylor
Professor Bruce Trigger, PhD, DSc, DLitt, FRSC
Professor J D van der Waals
Professor Dr W Groenman-van Waateringe
The purpose of the Society shall be the study of the ANTIQUITIES AND HISTORY OF SCOTLAND, more especially by means of Archaeological Research.

The Society shall consist of Fellows and Honorary Fellows.

Candidates for admission as Fellows must sign the Form of Application prescribed by the Council, and must be sponsored by a Fellow. Admission shall be by ballot. In the case of candidates not resident in the United Kingdom, it shall be open to the Council after consideration of the circumstances to waive the necessity for a sponsor.

Council shall cause the names of the Candidates and their Sponsors to be circulated to all Fellows at least ten days before the date of the meeting at which a ballot is to be held. Fellows may vote against any candidate by striking out the name from the list and returning the list to the Society before the meeting or placing the list in the Ballot Box before the meeting commences. Candidates receiving ten or more adverse votes will be balloted for individually at the meeting, and any candidate then receiving less than two-thirds of the votes shall not be admitted.

Honorary Fellows shall consist of persons eminent in any branch of antiquarian study, who must be recommended by the Council and elected in the same way as Fellows; they shall not be liable for any fee for admission or annual subscription. The number of Honorary Fellows shall not exceed twenty-five.

Corresponding Members must be recommended by the Council and elected in the same way as Fellows. They shall not be liable for a fee for admission or annual subscription. This Law is now repealed.

Before the name of a newly elected candidate is added to the list of Fellows, he or she shall pay to the funds of the Society an entrance fee and the current year’s subscription as provided for by Law 8.

Rates of entrance fee and annual subscription shall be determined by the Council as required from time to time subject to the approval of the Society given at a General Meeting. The annual subscription shall become due on 1st July in each year for that year then beginning; and if any Fellow who has not compounded shall fail to pay the subscription for one year, due application having been made for payment, the Treasurer shall report the same to Council, by whose authority the name of the defaulter may be erased from the List of Fellows. Fellows whose membership has lapsed, and who wish to rejoin the Society, may do so either (1) by payment of all arrears of subscription — in which case they shall receive the relative volumes of the Proceedings, if still available — or (2) on payment of the subscription for the current year and of the entrance fee.

Every Fellow not being in arrears of the annual subscription shall be entitled to receive the printed Proceedings of the Society from the date of election.

None but Fellows shall vote or hold any office in the Society.

Subject to the Laws and to the control of the Society in General Meetings, the affairs of the Society shall be managed by a Council elected and appointed as hereinafter set forth. Five members of the Council shall constitute a quorum, provided that number includes one Office-bearer and one elected member of Council.

The Office-bearers shall consist of a President, three Vice-Presidents, and a Treasurer. The Presidents and the Vice-Presidents shall be elected for a period of three years. One of the Vice-Presidents shall retire annually by rotation, and shall not be eligible for re-election to
the same office until one year has elapsed. The Treasurer shall be elected for one year and shall be eligible for re-election. The elections shall be by ballot at the Annual General Meetings upon a list issued by the Council for that purpose to the Fellows at least fourteen days before the meeting.

13 The Council shall consist of the Office-bearers, twelve Fellows elected by the Society, the Chairman of the North East Section, the Conveners of the Programme, Publication, Research, Heritage and Finance and Administration Committees if not already elected members, the Society representative on the Ancient Monuments Board (nominated by the Secretary of State for Scotland) and a representative of the National Museums of Scotland who is already a Fellow of the Society (nominated by the Board of Trustees.)

14 Four of the twelve elected members of Council shall retire annually by rotation, and shall not be eligible for re-election as ordinary members of Council until one year has elapsed. Vacancies among the elected members of Council and Office-bearers occurring by completion of term of office, by retirement on rotation, by resignation, death or otherwise, shall be filled by election at the Annual General Meeting, or, in the case of the Treasurer, at any earlier meeting of the Society as decided by the Council. The election shall be by ballot, as provided for by Law 12.

15 The Council may appoint committees or individuals to advise on or to take charge of particular departments of the Society’s business. Individuals who are not Fellows and Fellows who are not members of the Council shall be eligible for these duties.

16 The Annual General Meeting of the Society shall take place on St Andrew’s Day, 30th November, or on the following day if the 30th be a Sunday. The business of the Annual General Meeting shall be notified to Fellows at least fourteen days before the day of the meeting.

17 The Council shall have the power to call Extraordinary General Meetings when they see cause. At least fourteen days notice of an Extraordinary General Meeting shall be given to Fellows.

18 Meetings of the Society, termed Ordinary Meetings, shall be held on such dates and at such places as may be determined by the Council. A minimum of six meetings, in addition to the Annual General Meeting provided for in Law 16, shall be held in each year.

19 Every proposal for altering the Laws must be made through the Council, which shall cause intimation thereof to be made to all the Fellows at least thirty days before the General Meeting at which it is to be determined on.
Obituary

Anne S Robertson

Professor Anne Robertson who died on 4 October 1997 at the age of 87 was an archaeologist and numismatist of international repute. From the moment of graduation in 1932 until her retirement in 1975 she was associated with the Hunterian Museum at the University of Glasgow, and its world-famous Hunter Coin Cabinet. Throughout her long and active life she maintained high standards in scholarship and museum curation, and her passing has removed a final link with figures such as Sir George Macdonald, James Curle and S N Miller.

Anne Strachan Robertson was born and educated in Glasgow, graduating Master of Arts with Honours in Classics in 1932. Her enthusiasm for Roman history and archaeology and her attention to minute detail were already noticeable as an undergraduate. S N Miller, lecturer in
Roman History, then newly appointed Honorary Curator of the Roman Collections at the Hunterian Museum, saw her as ideally suited to Museum work, in particular to the task of ordering and cataloguing the archaeological and ethnographic collections at the Museum, the former now including material from his own excavations at the Roman forts of Balmuildy and Old Kilpatrick, then still packed in boxes. It was perhaps Miller who brought her to the attention of Sir George Macdonald, Honorary Curator of the Hunter Coin Cabinet, as especially suited also to working with coins. A university scholarship allowed her to spend part of the session 1932–3 travelling to visit museum collections elsewhere in the United Kingdom. In 1933–4 she studied for a second MA, this time in Archaeology, at University College London, working with Sir Mortimer Wheeler; she participated in Wheeler’s excavations at Maiden Castle. At the same time she gained valuable experience at the Coins and Medals Department of the British Museum. Many of her earliest publications in *Numismatic Chronicle* relate to coin hoards from Roman sites in Britain, a subject that was to remain dear to her to the end of her life. Soon she was back in Glasgow, appointed Bellahouston Scholar and again working at the Hunterian. She became a permanent member of Glasgow University staff in 1938–9; for many years her salary was paid from, or augmented by, the Dalrymple Archaeological Fund of the Glasgow Archaeological Society, administered by the University. In consequence she continued to give regular Dalrymple lectures until the 1960s.

She quickly put her archaeological training to good use, beginning in 1937 a long series of excavations, interrupted by the Second World War, at Castledykes Roman fort near Lanark, which continued until 1955 and which established periods of both Flavian and Antonine occupation at this important site. Overlapping with this work was a series of ‘rescue’ excavations at Duntocher on the Antonine Wall (1947–51), where part of the fort was threatened by housing development. During the Second World War she continued with cataloguing, and gave lectures to service personnel on archaeology and Scottish history. At the same time she was working quietly on a massive catalogue of *The Roman Imperial Coins in the Hunter Coin Cabinet, University of Glasgow*, which appeared in five volumes between 1962 and 1982, and must be considered her chief scholarly contribution. She found time also to complete a volume in the series *Sylloge of Coins of the British Isles* (1961), published by the British Academy, devoted to Anglo-Saxon coins in the University of Glasgow collection. The writer played a small part in the preparation of later volumes of *Roman Imperial Coins*, in particular weighing coins for Volume 3 (published in 1977), and observed her at work in the Cabinet on a daily basis over many months. As the compiler of any catalogue knows well, such work needs patient attention to detail, intense concentration, and constitutes a strain on the eyesight, out of all proportion to the length of the published work. The five volumes described and listed some 12,000 coins, accompanied by carefully prepared photographic plates. In succession to Sir George Macdonald, she compiled decennial surveys of Roman coins found in Scotland, published in these *Proceedings*; see *Proc Soc Antiq Scot*, 84 (1949–50), 137–69; 94 (1960–1), 133–83; 103 (1970–1), 113–68; 113 (1983), 405–38. The task has now been assumed by Dr J D Bateson, latterly in partnership with N M McQ Holmes. Her numismatic achievement was widely recognized, for example by the award of the Medal of the Royal Numismatic Society (1964). She gained the greatest pleasure from visits to the American Numismatic Society in New York, where she was awarded the Huntington Medal (1970).

She divided her working day at the Hunterian between mornings in the Coin Cabinet and afternoons devoted to more general museum administration and archaeological matters. Her routine was precise, and not easily interrupted; not a moment was wasted. Her numismatic and archaeological interests were often combined, as in her lengthy study of "The Romans in North

She maintained a regular watch and ward along the Antonine Wall, at a time when others paid it scant attention. In 1960, at the invitation of the Glasgow Archaeological Society, she compiled a brief handbook and guide to the surviving remains, subsequently reprinted with minor modifications and still available in its sixth printing. She gained nothing financially from this, and indeed would have thought it strange to do so; indeed she frequently subsidized publications from her own resources, the money stated as coming from an ‘anonymous benefactor’. For many enthusiasts this handbook was their first introduction to the Roman frontier between Forth and Clyde. In 1956 she prepared a ciné-film of the Wall, in which two members of the Glasgow Archaeological Society traversed its length and inspected the surviving remains, a unique record at a fixed date. She organized an annual field excursion to the Antonine Wall, which sometimes culminated in tea at her country cottage near Kilsyth.

As an excavator she remained active in the field for over 40 years, a remarkable record. Between 1948 and 1973 she was Secretary of the Scottish Field School of Archaeology, and regularly Director of its training excavations, first at Castledykes, then at Birrens in Dumfries-shire, between 1962 and 1967, and at Cardean in Angus, from 1968 until 1973, the work continuing thereafter under the auspices of the Hunterian Museum until 1975; her final operations in the field were again at Duntocher in 1977–8. For students of the Field School, these excavations provided rigorous training in a very formal setting, both bringing home the need for an organized approach to the management of an excavation, and providing a firm grounding in the techniques which had to be deployed to maximize the information obtained. Several hundred students, most drawn from Scottish Universities (including the writer from 1966 onwards), supplemented by school pupils and ‘grown-ups’, participated over the years; she greatly impressed the students newly gathered on the first night of each season by knowing everyone’s name and their background. A goodly number now hold professional posts (or indeed have retired from them) in universities, museums, government agencies or work as archaeological specialists. Each season of excavation was recorded on ciné-films which were the highlight of annual reunions held on the Saturday before Christmas each year; the writer often had the anxious task of operating the projector.

She took care to make the results of her work available to the wider community, with the publication of An Antonine Fort: Golden Hill, Duntocher (1957), The Roman Fort at Castledykes (1964), and Birrens (Blatobulgium) (1975). Of her major archaeological projects only Cardean remains unpublished at her death; but the report is largely complete, and many specialist contributions had been received. Her archaeological and numismatic papers, and many books, together with the ciné-films of her excavations, were recently presented to the Hunterian Museum by the Trustees of the Church of Scotland, to whom the bulk of her estate was bequeathed. She directed, or arranged for others to supervise, many small excavations, often along the line of the Antonine Wall, sometimes with a workforce of school pupils, and at watch towers on the Gask Ridge Roman ‘frontier’ in Perthshire.

The Glasgow Archaeological Society formed a focus for her attentions for 60 years. She was Vice-President from 1945 until 1954, and then President from 1954 to 1957. Her time as President included the Society’s centenary celebrations in the session 1956–7, culminating in a close-packed sequence of receptions, lectures and excursions in August 1957, which marked the ‘centenary week’. Her Presidential Address considered the role of the Society in the developing
knowledge of Roman Scotland, 1856–1956. Subsequently her strong sense of duty prompted a return to service in 1965 as one of the Society's Honorary Secretaries, a post she continued to hold until 1972. To mark her retirement from the Hunterian Museum in 1975, the Society issued a volume of the *Glasgow Archaeological Journal* devoted to studies in her honour, by friends and colleagues. She was elected an Honorary Member of the Society in the following year.

Her service to this Society was no less impressive. In 1946 she became a member of the Council; incredibly it might seem now, she was the first woman to be elected. From 1949 until 1962 she was the Secretary responsible for Foreign Correspondence, and thereafter, until 1982, an *ex officio* member of Council as representative on the Board of Trustees of the National Museum of Antiquities of Scotland. She also had particularly close links with the Glasgow and West of Scotland Numismatic Society, of which she held the first membership card, and was Honorary President at the time of her death.

She was active far beyond Glasgow, before and after her retirement, lecturing frequently to archaeological and heritage groups, taking a special interest in fledgeling societies, in the projects and activities of school pupils, and in local initiatives. For example, she prepared a short account of 'The Antonine wall through the Ages from Balmuildy to Hutcheson Hill' (ie that part of it within the then Bearsden & Milngavie District) to coincide with the exhibition *Remains to be Seen*, at the Lillie Art Gallery, Milngavie (1988). She was Honorary Secretary of the Scottish Group of the CBA (1959–61) and in later years she sponsored the Robertson Awards, presented under the auspices of its successor CBA Scotland (subsequently CSA), to reward a variety of archaeological endeavour, particularly by its younger members. She was a patron of the Trimontium Trust (Newstead) from its foundation in 1988. She frequently attended the International Numismatic Congresses, and the International Congresses of Roman Frontier Studies, and was a speaker at the latter's inaugural meeting, organized by Professor Eric Birley, at Durham in 1949. She was a clear and effective lecturer, speaking informatively for an hour without notes. The technique was especially effective at the Field School and when addressing local societies; it seemed to work less well in the more formal settings of lectures to undergraduates, with whom she was always ill at ease.

In an age when professional archaeologists were a small community, she served frequently on the councils, committees or governing bodies of various organizations at a local and national level. She was a member of the Ancient Monuments Board for Scotland for an extended period in the 1960s and 1970s and a member of its Rescue Committee. She became a Fellow of the Royal Numismatic Society (1937), of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland (1941), of the Society of Antiquaries of London (1958) of the Museums Association (1958), and was among the first arts-based Fellows elected to the Royal Society of Edinburgh (1975); she was also a Council Member of the Society for the Promotion of Roman Studies (1962–5 and 1966–9) and later one of its Honorary Vice-Presidents. Academic honours came her way, though perhaps somewhat belatedly. In 1965 she was awarded a D.Litt by the University of Glasgow in recognition of her publications. She was made a Reader in Roman Archaeology in 1964, and Professor of Roman Archaeology, one of the first women to be given professorial rank at Glasgow University, in 1974, a year before her retirement.

An extremely shy and very private person, not always at ease in large gatherings, she expected the highest standards both from herself and from immediate colleagues. It is easy for present-day archaeologists to forget that in the 1930s, few professionals were in post, either in museums, government agencies or in the field. In a male-dominated profession, she was compelled to form her own judgements on a wide range of scholarly topics and rely on them for want of colleagues with whom to share them. The nature of her post, and perhaps her own personality,
did not lead her to attract pupils in the normal way; but among her Glasgow students were the distinguished numismatists Robert Carson, later Keeper of Coins and Medals at the British Museum, and Marion Archibald, later Assistant Keeper there. Anne Robertson's job-title changed several times, but in latter years it was 'Keeper of the Cultural Collections and of the Hunter Coin Cabinet'. Despite a common belief to the contrary, she was never Keeper or Director of the Museum as a whole; but to many she was the Museum's public face and the person most associated with it: a letter once arrived at the Museum addressed to 'Dr Anne Hunter'. As a correspondent her neat handwriting was instantly recognizable, and it shone forth both in the immaculately compiled museum accessions-ledgers and in the registration-numbering applied to many thousands of artefacts in the archaeological and ethnographic collections.

At about the time of her retirement she moved to a detached bungalow in Bearsden, a few yards south of the Antonine Wall, and so just within the Roman Empire. Here she worked for many years on her final work, *Romano-British Coins Hoards*, a massive undertaking unfortunately long delayed in the press, through no fault of her own; publication is now imminent but it is sad that she herself did not live to see the resulting volume. She maintained her strong association with the Church of Scotland and did unheralded work for the Samaritans. She never married, and remained close to her three sisters, one of whom she had recently nursed through a protracted final illness, and to their children and grandchildren.

*Lawrence Keppie*